
Bryant City Council

Boswell Municipal Complex - City Hall Court Room

210 SW 3rd Street

YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/c/bryantarkansas

Date: June 27, 2023 - Time: 6:30 PM

Invocation

Pledge of Allegiance

Call to Order

Approval of Minutes

1. May 2023 Council Meeting - Unapproved minutes
• Unapproved May 30 2023 City Council Meeting.docx.pdf

Presentations and Announcements

Director's Report

Public Comments

Old Business

Public Works

2. Amend Leak Adjustment Ordinance - Leak Adjustment Policy Amendment

Leak Adjustment Ordinance was previously approved, Ordinance needs to be amended and emergency clause added.

• Water Leakage Ordinance .docx (3).pdf

• Updated Leak Adjustment Policy.docx.pdf

New Business

Finance

3. May 2023 ending Financial Report

Approval and Acceptance of the May 2023 ending financial report, see attached.

• 06.13.23 May Ending Financial Report.pdf

4. Budget Adjustments - Resolution to Amend City Budget

A Resolution to amend the city budget for ending December 31, 2023, see attached.

• 06.27.23 BA Res for June 2023.pdf

https://www.youtube.com/c/bryantarkansas
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_212/unapproved_may_30_2023_city_council_meeting-docx.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_212/water_leakage_ordinance_-docx_-3-.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_212/updated_leak_adjustment_policy-docx.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_212/06-13-23_may_ending_financial_report.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_212/06-27-23_ba_res_for_june_2023.pdf


5. Annual Millage Rate Decision - Ordinance to adopt the Millage rate for real and personal property for 2024.

Ordinances to adopt a millage rates for 2024 for both real and personal property, see attached.

• 06.27.23 Mills Ordinances - Real and Personal.pdf

City Attorney

6. Ordinance for Hyperfiber - Non-exclusive franchise

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A NON-EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE TO HYPERFIBER OF ARKANSAS, LLC; AND ASSIGN A NON-

EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE TO PROVIDE AND MAINTAIN HIGH-BANDWIDTH, FIBER-BASED COMMUNICATIONS

NETWORKS AND SERVICES WITHIN THE CITY OF BRYANT; ESTABLISHING FRANCHISE FEES TO BE PAID; AND FOR

OTHER PURPOSES.

• Franchise agreement btw COB and HyperFiber of Arkansas LLC.docx.pdf

7. A&P Decision for Special Election November 14, 2023 - Ordinance to allow for a special election for an A&P

Tax in Bryant.

An Ordinance to call for a Special Election on November 14, 2023 for an A&P tax in the city of Bryant, AR, see attached.

• ap_ordinance_with_vote_to_people_-draft_3--docx.pdf

Public Works

8. Gov Deals - Disposal of Equipment

Resolution to sell PW Equipment on Gov Deals.

• GovDeals Resolution.pdf

9. Hilldale Road Overlay - Asphalt Work for Hilldale Road

Contract over $35,000 to mill and overlay Hilldale Road from Highway 5 to Round -a- Bout

• City of Bryant- Hilldale Rd Quote.pdf

10. Springhill and Hilldale Road Overlays - Re-Stripe of Springill Road

Contract over $35,000 for thermoplastic striping of Springhill  road overlay

• springhill_striping_quote.pdf

Council Comments

Mayor Comments

Adjournments

https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_212/06-27-23_mills_ordinances_-_real_and_personal.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_212/franchise_agreement_btw_cob_and_hyperfiber_of_arkansas_llc-docx.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_212/ap_ordinance_with_vote_to_people_-draft_3--docx.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_212/govdeals_resolution.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_212/city_of_bryant-_hilldale_rd_quote.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_212/springhill_striping_quote.pdf


Bryant City Council City Council Meeting
May 30, 2023 - 6:30 PM

Boswell Municipal Complex - City Hall Court Room
210 SW 3rd Street Bryant, Arkansas

YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/c/bryantarkansas

UNAPPROVED MINUTES

Prior to the Council Meeting, a prayer was given by Council Member Roedel who also
led the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag.

Call to Order - Mayor Scott at 6:30 pm

Roll Call – Council Members Present: Jason Brown, Star Henson, Jon Martin, Lisa
Meyer, Jack Moseley, Jordan O’Roark, Wade Permenter, and Rob Roedel. City Clerk
Mark Smith and City Attorney Ashley Clancy were also present. Quorum Present.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

1. Approval of the April 25, 2022 Regular Council Meeting Minutes [YT 1:55]
Motion to approve - Council Member Meyer, Second - Council Member Henson.
Voice Vote. Motion Passed 8-0.

2. Approval of the May 1, 2022 Special Council Meeting Minutes [YT 2:15]
Motion to approve - Council Member Martin, Second - Council Member
Permenter.
Voice Vote. Motion Passed 8-0.

DIRECTORS REPORTS

3. Engineering - Stormwater Status by City Engineer Ted Taylor [YT 2:50]
Engineer Taylor presented and explained the Engineering and Construction
Stormwater Projects for Public Works handout as well as the hierarchy for
working on these projects. He reviewed completed and anticipated projects.
Discussion followed.
Council Member Meyer asked the Mayor to place the Raymar/Lacross properties
that have had flooding issues back on the work schedule. The Mayor agreed to
place the project on the work schedule.
Council Member Permenter asked for an update on the Suncrest/Robinwood
project. Engineer Taylor explained that work continues to align the sewer pipes
and then work to reroute the outflow from one lift station that contributes to the
flow in the Suncrest/Robinwood neighborhood.

PUBLIC COMMENTS

Joseph McIntyre- Raymar Road regarding flooding in his neighborhood and [YT 17:45]
city employees asleep on the job site.

1

https://www.youtube.com/c/bryantarkansas


NEW BUSINESS

Finance – presented by Joy Black, Director of Finance

4. Monthly Finance Report – Monthly Report ending April, 2023 [YT 21:10]
Presentation and Approval of the March, 2023 City Financial Report.
Motion to approve - Council Member Permenter, Second - Council Member
Henson.
Voice Vote. Motion Passed 8-0.

Animal Control – presented by Tricia Power, Director

5. Resolution to Approve Budget Adjustment - Amend 2023 Budget [YT 24:40]
Resolution to approve a budget adjustment to replace an air conditioner unit at
the animal shelter.
Director Power explained that the large air conditioner at the shelter needs to be
replaced. Discussion followed.
Motion to approve - Council Member Martin, Second - Council Member Roedel.
Voice Vote. Motion Passed 8-0.
 RESOLUTION 2023-12

Council

6. Resolution to Review Contracts – Sponsored by Council Member [YT 29:55]
Meyer
A resolution for City Council to review all contracts with a value of thirty-five
thousand dollars and above.
Motion to approve by Council Member Henson, Second by Council Member
O’Roark.
Voice Vote. Motion Passed 8-0.
 RESOLUTION 2023-13

Parks and Recreation – presented by Chris Treat, Director

7. Barracudas Use Agreement [YT 31:00]
Director Treat explained that there was little change in this year’s agreement.
Motion to approve - Council Member Roedel, Second - Council Member Meyer.
Voice Vote. Motion Passed 8-0.

Public Works – presented by Tim Fournier, Director

8. Generator Maintenance - Contracts [YT 31:55]
Renew contracts with Clifford Power for Public Works generators.
Motion to approve - Council Member Permenter, Second - Council Member
Martin.

2



Voice Vote. Motion Passed 8-0.

9. Asphalt work - Cranford Construction Company [YT 33:20]
Mill and pave Wilkerson Road.
Motion to approve - Council Member Roedel, Second - Council Member Meyer.
Voice Vote. Motion Passed 8-0.

10.Delayed Payment Agreement/Leak Adjustment Policy - Change four [YT 34:20]
months to pay limit for both
Delayed Payment Agreement gives customers four months to pay. This change
will adjust Leak Adjustment policy to the same four month limit.
Motion to approve - Council Member Martin, Second - Council Member Moseley.
Voice Vote. Motion Passed 8-0.

11.Water Shed Protection Fee - Amend Ordinance [YT 35:20]
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE 2009-07 TO REFLECT CURRENT
WATERSHED PROTECTION FEE PAYABLE TO CENTRAL ARKANSAS
WATER
Motion to suspend the rules and read 1st, 2nd, and 3rd reading by title only -
Council Member Meyer, Second - Council Member Permenter.
Voice vote. Motion Passed 8-0. Ordinance title read by Mayor Scott.
Motion to adopt - Council Member Permenter, Second - Council Member
Henson.
Roll Call Vote. YES: Brown, Henson, Martin, Meyer, Moseley, O’Roark,
Permenter, Roedel. Motion Passed 8-0.
Motion to approve Emergency Clause - Council Member Roedel, Second -
Council Member Martin.
Roll Call Vote. YES: Brown, Henson, Martin, Meyer, Moseley, O’Roark,
Permenter, Roedel. Motion Passed 8-0.
 ORDINANCE 2023-09

12.Meter Deposit - Amend Ordinance [YT 38:05]
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE 2009-13 TO INCREASE WATER
METER DEPOSITS AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES
Director Fournier explained that the new meters are more expensive than the old
model. This change will raise the deposit to $110 for a residential 5/8” or ¾”
meter.
Motion to suspend the rules and read 1st, 2nd, and 3rd reading by title only -
Council Member Roedel, Second - Council Member Permenter.
Voice vote. Motion Passed 8-0. Ordinance title read by Mayor Scott.
Motion to adopt - Council Member Permenter, Second - Council Member
Henson.
Roll Call Vote. YES: Brown, Henson, Martin, Meyer, Moseley, O’Roark,
Permenter, Roedel.
Motion Passed 8-0.
 ORDINANCE 2023-10

3



13.Federal Safe Drinking Water Act Fee - Amend Ordinance [YT 40:25]
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE 2007-34 TO REFLECT THE
CURRENTLY CHARGED PER CONNECTION MONTHLY FEE PAYABLE TO
THE ARKANSAS DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES AS
REQUIRED BY STATE LAW
Motion to suspend the rules and read 1st, 2nd, and 3rd reading by title only -
Council Member Martin, Second - Council Member Permenter.
Voice vote. Motion Passed 8-0. Ordinance title read by Mayor Scott.
Motion to adopt - Council Member Permenter, Second - Council Member
O’Roark.
Roll Call Vote. YES: Brown, Henson, Martin, Meyer, Moseley, O’Roark,
Permenter, Roedel. Motion Passed 8-0.
Motion to approve Emergency Clause - Council Member Roedel, Second -
Council Member Henson.
Roll Call Vote. YES: Brown, Henson, Martin, Meyer, Moseley, O’Roark,
Permenter, Roedel. Motion Passed 8-0.
 ORDINANCE 2023-11

Council Comments [YT 42:25]
Council Member Martin thanked the Department Heads for their help gathering
information on the tax proposals.

Mayor Comments [YT 43:10]
Council Workshop on possible tax proposals will be Wednesday, June 7, 2023 at
6 PM.

Adjournment
Motion to Adjourn by Council Member Permenter, second by Council Member Moseley.
Adjourned time: 7:14 PM

4



ORDINANCE NO. 2023- ___

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING IMPLEMENTATION OF A POLICY GOVERNING
WATER LEAKAGE ADJUSTMENTS IN BRYANT, ARKANSAS

WHEREAS, the City of Bryant (“the City”) operates a water and wastewater utility system
(“System”) in the City of Bryant; and

WHEREAS, the City is often faced with requests for billing adjustments from customers who
experience high bills due to water leaks; and

WHEREAS, the City purchases water from Central Arkansas Water at a cost that must be
recovered through water rates; and

WHEREAS, the City can provide some relief on high water and wastewater bills caused by
water leakage; and

WHEREAS, the City desires to adopt and implement a policy that governs the circumstances
under which water leakage adjustments may be provided.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF BRYANT,
ARKANSAS THAT: 

The Policy Governing Water Leakage Billing Adjustments (EXHIBIT A- attached) is hereby
adopted by the City Council of the City of Bryant.

Section 1: Emergency Declared.

This Ordinance is necessary to preserve the public peace, health, safety and welfare, an
emergency is declared to exist and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after
the date of its passage.

PASSED AND APPROVED this ______day of May, 2023. 

APPROVED: ATTEST: 

_____________________________ ________________________
Allen Scott, Mayor Mark Smith, City Clerk



EXHIBIT A

City of Bryant Water and Wastewater Utilities

POLICY GOVERNING WATER LEAKAGE BILLING ADJUSTMENTS

Customers may qualify for bill adjustments to water and sewer charges when property-side leaks cause unusually

high utility bills. The Customer Service Manager will provide a report to the Water and Sewer Advisory Committee

each month detailing the leak adjustments under $100 and a separate report detailing requests for adjustments

over $100.

ELIGIBILITY FOR ADJUSTMENTS

Each customer account is eligible to receive one adjustment to water and sewer charges during a 12-month period

(except irrigation-dedicated water services which will be evaluated at a 24-month period) including indoor and

outdoor leaks.

● Adjustments are made to the water and sewer portion of the bill only.

● Customers may request adjustments after leaks have been repaired.

● The Customer Service Manager is authorized to make adjustments up to $100.

● Any requested adjustments over $100 must appear before the Water And Sewer Advisory Committee for a

decision on eligibility.

● Any City staff person will check the water meter to verify that the leak has been fixed. The Customer

requesting an adjustment will be asked to confirm the leak and repair by singing a statement provided by

the Water and Wastewater Department; and providing adequate documentation. (i.e. receipt of materials

and/or services of repair).

EXCEPTIONS TO ADJUSTMENT POLICY

● Damages caused by leaks will not be assessed as part of the adjustment.

● Any plumber or contractor services associated with leak detection or repairs will not be assessed as

part of the adjustment.

● No adjustments can be made to fees that are associated with meter, watershed, and taxes.

● Any customer may requestion verification of accuracy of their water meter by requesting a

manufacturer’s calibration test. However, should the meter’s retested measurements indicate that the

water used by the customer is at or below the measured reading, the customer will be responsible for

all costs associated with removing, installing, and testing of the meter.

IDENTIFICATION OF ELIGIBLE PRIVATE SERVICE LEAKS

Private Service leaks may be identified by the Customer or by the Water and Wastewater Department.

● It is not the responsibility of the Water and Wastewater Department to monitor for customer leaks.

However, if the Department does recognize the possible presence of a leak, the Customer will be advised

in a timely manner. If the Customer is not home to notify in person, a notice will be posted on the

Customer’s door.

● When the Department does notify the Customer of the possible presence of a leak, the Customer must

make reasonable efforts to locate the leak and initiate repairs within 30 days of notification.

● Water loss due to theft, vandalism, construction damage, or unintentional usage, such as being unaware

of a garden hose or water tap running for an extended period of time, is ineligible for an adjustment. A

signed statement from the Customer stating the cause of the leak of water loss will be required.



ADJUSTMENT

The method for adjusting the Customer utility bill after the leak has been repaired is:

● Customer Service will determine when the leak started and ended based on the water meter system

data.

● An adjustment of 50% discount on all water and wastewater used during the month the leak was

determined and repaired will be credited to the current bill.

● No late charges related to the leak will be assessed if an adjustment is allowed.

REQUESTING A LEAK ADJUSTMENT

The Customer must make a written request for a leak adjustment on a Leak Adjustment Request form obtained at

Bryant Water and Wastewater Customer Service. The Customer may submit the form by mail to:

Bryant Water and Wastewater Department

Attn: Customer Service Manager

210 SW 3rd Street

Bryant, AR, 72022

INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR A LEAK ADJUSTMENT REQUEST
1. Date

2. Customer Name

3. Account Number

4. Service Address

5. City, State, Zip

6. Home Phone

7. Work Phone

8. Date Leak was Detected

9. Date Leak was Repaired

10. Description of Leak (faucet, toilet, underground, etc)

11. Explanation of How Leak was Repaired

12. Copy of Invoice for Plumber’s Services or for Parts Purchased by the Customer to make the repair

13. Letters from landlords or property management companies affirming repairs will be accepted in lieu of

invoices, if applicable.

PLEASE NOTE: Completion of request does not guarantee an adjustment will be made to the Customer’s City

of Bryant utilities bill. No adjustment will be made to any fees, incurred penalties, or tax-portion of the bill.

Copies of invoices and receipts for repairs must be provided with the Customer request for an adjustment. The

account must remain current and bills paid by due date to avoid additional service charges or disconnection of

service.

PAYMENT PLANS
● Customers with bills over $100 may request a 4-month payment plan with a down payment of 25% of

the bill with the remaining 3 payments of 25% each.

● In order to enter into this program, DPA request must be completed and returned to the Customer

Service Manager.

● Customers must remain current on future bills and make payments on time. Failure to do so will result

in a default or termination of the agreement.



● Customers that miss a payment may have their service disconnected.

● In the event a customer has already executed a DPA within the allowed calendar year, the Customer

Service Manager will review the Leak Adjustment Request and adjust executed DPA to reflect adjusted

bill.















































































































































































Section 

1.

•         General Fund 0

•         Street Fund 0

•         Utility Fund  WW 0

Section 

2.

PASSED AND APPROVED this 27th  day of June, 2023.

APPROVED:

_________________________ ATTEST:

Allen E. Scott, Mayor

___________________

Mark Smith, City Clerk

The amended city budget for the calendar year 2023 is hereby amended and adopted to read as 

attached.

RESOLUTION NO. 2023 _____

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ADOPTION OF AN AMENDED BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF 

BRYANT FOR THE TWELVE MONTH PERIOD BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2023 AND ENDING 

DECEMBER 31, 2023

WHEREAS, the City of Bryant, Arkansas adopted a budget for The City of Bryant on December 13, 2022, recorded 

as Resolution 2022-36, and

WHEREAS, the City of Bryant, Arkansas, desires to amend said Budget for Fiscal Year 2023 as attached.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF BRYANT, ARKANSAS THAT:

This resolution (with attachment) shall be known as the amended budget resolution for the City 

of Bryant, Arkansas, for the twelve (12) month period beginning January 1, 2023 and ending 

December 31, 2023.

Page 1 of 2

Resolution 2023 -____ Adopting an Amended City Budget for 2023 - June 2023



Account Number Amount of the Requested ChDescription

080-0800-5810 -30,759.98 reclass to complete truck outfitting, costs have increased

080-0800-5322 -14,000.00 reclass to complete truck outfitting, costs have increased

080-0800-5808 44,759.98 reclass to complete truck outfitting, costs have increased

510-0950-5816 -75,000.00 Required Pool Repair not city capital so reclass

510-0950-5586 75,000.00 Required Pool Repair not city capital so reclass

500-0900-4536 -34,000.00 Penalties unbudgeted used to cover supplies increase

500-0900-5322 34,000.00 Penalties unbudgeted used to cover supplies increase

001-0500-4350 -3,450.00 reclass for Fire

001-0500-5216 3,450.00 reclass for Fire

080-0800-4600 -22.62 reclass for Street

080-0800-5060 22.62 reclass for Street

500-0900-4600 -1,506.48 reclass for Water

500-0900-5060 1,283.82 reclass for Water

500-0900-5102 222.66 reclass for Water

001-0600-4600 -450.00 reclass for Police

001-0600-5210 450.00 reclass for Police

Resolution 2023 - _____Adopting an Amended City Budget - June 2023



Section 1.

1

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNTIL OF THE CITY OF BRYANT, 

ARKANSAS, on this 27th day of June, 2023.

APPROVED:

_________________________

Allen E. Scott, Mayor

ATTEST:

___________________

Mark Smith, City Clerk

Said tax shall be collected by the Collector of Saline County in 2024 as provided by law.  

ORDINANCE NO. 2023 _____

A ORDINANCE LEVYING A TAX ON ALL REAL PROPERTY IN THE CITY OF BRYANT, SALINE 

COUNTY, ARKANSAS, FOR THE PURPOSES AS PROVIDED BY LAW.   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF CITY OF BRYANT, SALINE 

COUNTY, ARKANSAS:

That a tax of 3.8 mills on the dollar for the city purposes be and is hereby levied on all Real property 

within the corporate limits of the City of Bryant, Arkansas, as per property valuations on Saline County 

tax books for the year 2023, see below:

City General Purposes: 3.8 Mills 

Page 1 of 1

Ordinance No 2023 ____ An Ordinance for the Property Millage Rate - June 2023



Section 1.

1

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNTIL OF THE CITY OF BRYANT, 

ARKANSAS, on this 27th day of June, 2023.

APPROVED:

_________________________

Allen E. Scott, Mayor

ATTEST:

___________________

Mark Smith, City Clerk

ORDINANCE NO. 2023 _____

A ORDINANCE LEVYING A TAX ON ALL PERSONAL PROPERTY IN THE CITY OF BRYANT, 

SALINE COUNTY, ARKANSAS, FOR THE PURPOSES AS PROVIDED BY LAW.   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF CITY OF BRYANT, SALINE 

COUNTY, ARKANSAS:

That a tax of 3.8 mills on the dollar for the city purposes be and is hereby levied on all Personal 

property within the corporate limits of the City of Bryant, Arkansas, as per property valuations on 

Saline County tax books for the year 2023, see below:

Said tax shall be collected by the Collector of Saline County in 2024 as provided by law.  

City General Purposes: 3.8 Mills

Page 1 of 1

Ordinance No 2023 ____ An Ordinance for the Property Millage Rate - June 2023



ORDINANCE NO. ___ OF 2023

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A NON-EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE

TO HYPERFIBER OF ARKANSAS, LLC; AND ASSIGN A NON-EXCLUSIVE
FRANCHISE TO PROVIDE AND MAINTAIN HIGH-BANDWIDTH, FIBER-BASED

COMMUNICATIONS NETWORKS AND SERVICES WITHIN THE CITY OF
BRYANT; ESTABLISHING FRANCHISE FEES TO BE PAID; AND FOR OTHER

PURPOSES.

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Bryant, Arkansas, desires to grant a non-exclusive
franchise to HyperFiber of Arkansas, LLC ("HF'') to provide and maintain high-bandwidth,
fiber-based communications networks, and services within the City of Bryant; and

 WHEREAS, the City and HF have come to terms on the execution of the franchise agreement.

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
BRYANT, ARKANSAS:

            SECTION 1: Conditioned upon the acceptance by HF of the terms and conditions set
forth in "Exhibit 1" to this ordinance, HF is hereby granted a non-exclusive franchise to provide
and maintain high-bandwidth, fiber-based communications networks, and services within the
City of Bryant for a period of ten (10) years. The City and HF shall enter into a franchise
agreement that is substantially similar to the terms set forth in "Exhibit 1". The franchise
agreement shall be approved by the City Attorney prior to execution. The mayor and the city
clerk are hereby authorized and directed to execute the necessary documents on behalf of the
city which shall include at a minimum "Exhibit 1" as well the franchise agreement.

            SECTION 2: Severability. In the event any title, section, paragraph, item, sentence,
clause, phrase, or word of this ordinance is declared or adjudged to be invalid or
unconstitutional, such declaration or adjudication shall not affect the remaining portions of the
ordinance which shall remain in full force and effect as if the portion so declared or adjudged
invalid or unconstitutional were not originally a part of the ordinance.

            SECTION 3: Repealer. All laws, ordinances, resolutions, or parts of the same, that are
inconsistent with the provisions of this ordinance, are hereby repealed to the extent of such
inconsistency.

 PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of June, 2023

 

 

_________________________                                             ____________________________

Allen Scott, Mayor ATTEST: Mark Smith, City Clerk



 

Franchise Agreement

between

C

ity of Bryant, Arkansas

and

HyperFiber of Arkansas, LLC



AGREEMENT

This AGREEMENT is effective as of the_______day of ________ 2023 (the "Effective
Date"), and is between the City of Bryant, Arkansas (the "Franchising Authority" or the "City of
Bryant"), and HyperFiber of Arkansas, LLC. (the "Company"). For purposes of this Agreement,
unless otherwise defined in this Agreement, the capitalized terms, phrases, words, and their
derivations, shall have the meanings set forth in Appendix A.

The Franchising Authority, having determined that the financial, legal, and technical ability of the
Company is reasonably sufficient to provide the services, facilities, and equipment necessary to
meet the current and future cable-related needs of the community and that, as of the Effective
Date, the Company is in material compliance with the terms and conditions of the cable franchise
preceding this Agreement, desires to enter into this Agreement with the Company for the
construction, operation, and maintenance of a Cable System on the terms and conditions set forth
herein. In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement,
and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereby covenant and agree as follows:

SECTION 1 GRANT OF AUTHORITY

1.1 Grant of Franchise. The Franchising Authority hereby grants under the Cable Act a
nonexclusive franchise (the "Franchise") to occupy and use the Streets within the Franchise Area
in order to construct operate, maintain, upgrade, repair, and remove the Cable System, and
provide Cable Services through the Cable System, subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement. This Franchise authorizes Cable Service, and it does not grant or prohibit the right(s)
of the Company to provide other services.

1.2 Term of Franchise. This Franchise shall be in effect for a period of ten (10) years
commencing on the Effective Date, unless renewed or lawfully terminated in accordance with this
Agreement and the Cable Act.

1.3 Renewal. Subject to Section 626 of the Cable Act (47 U.S.C. § 546) and such terms and
conditions as may lawfully be established by the Franchising Authority, the Franchising
Authority reserves the right to grant or deny renewal of the Franchise.

1.4 Reservation of Authority. Nothing in this Agreement shall (i) abrogate the right of the
Franchising Authority to perform any public works or public improvements of any description,
(ii) be construed as a waiver of any codes or ordinances of the Franchising Authority or of the
Franchising Authority's right to require the Company or any Person utilizing the Cable System to
secure the appropriate permits or authorizations for its use, or (iii) be construed as a waiver or
release of the rights of the Franchising Authority in and to the Streets. Notwithstanding the above,
in the event of any conflict between this Agreement and any code or ordinance adopted by the
Franchising Authority, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall prevail.

1.5 Competitive Equity and Subsequent Action Provisions.

1



1.5.1 Purposes. The Company and the Franchising Authority acknowledge that there is
increasing competition in the video marketplace among cable operators, direct broadcast
satellite providers, telephone companies, broadband content providers, and others; new
technologies are emerging that enable the provision of new and advanced services to City
of Bryant residents; and changes in the scope and application of the traditional regulatory
framework governing the provision of Video Services are being considered in a variety of
federal, state, and local venues. To foster an environment where all Cable Service
Providers and Video Service Providers using the Streets can compete on a competitively
neutral and nondiscriminatory basis; encourage the provision of new and advanced
services to City of Bryant residents; promote local communications infrastructure
investments and economic opportunities in the City of Bryant; and provide flexibility in
the event of subsequent changes in the law, the Company and the Franchising Authority
have agreed to the provisions in this Section 1.5, and these provisions should be
interpreted and applied with these purposes in mind. The parties agree that the
Franchising Authority shall not be required to execute a franchise agreement or
authorization with a competitive CSP or VSP that is identical, word-for-word, with this
Agreement to avoid triggering the provisions of this Section 1.5, so long as the regulatory
and financial burdens on and benefits to each CSI) or V SP are materially equivalent to
the burdens on and benefits to the Company. "Materially equivalent" provisions include
but are not limited to: franchise fees and the definition of Gross Revenues; system
build-out requirements; security instruments; public, education and government access
channels and support; customer service standards; and audits.

1.5.2 Fair Terms for All Providers. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Agreement or any other provision of law,

(a) If any V SP or CSP enters into any agreement with the Franchising Authority to
provide Video Services or Cable Services to Subscribers in the Franchise Area, the
Franchising Authority and the Company, upon written request of the Company,
will use best efforts in good faith to negotiate the Company's proposed Franchise
modifications, and such negotiation will proceed and conclude within sixty (60)
days, unless that period is reduced or extended by mutual agreement of the parties.
If the Franchising Authority and the Company agree to Franchise modifications
pursuant to such negotiations, then the Franchising Authority shall amend this
Agreement to include the modifications.

If there is no written agreement or other authorization between the new V SP or
CSP and the Franchising Authority, the Company and the Franchising Authority
shall use the sixty (60) day period to develop and enter into an agreement or other
appropriate authorization (to the extent the Company determines an agreement or
authorization is necessary) that to the maximum extent possible contains
provisions that will ensure competitive equity between the Company and other
VSPs or CSPs, taking into account the terms and conditions under which the new
V SP or CSI) is allowed to provide Video Services or Cable Services to
Subscribers in the Franchise Area.

2



(b) Following the Franchise modification negotiations provided for in Section
1.5.2(a), if the Franchising Authority and the Company fail to reach agreement in
such negotiations, the Company may, at its option, elect to replace this Agreement
by opting in to the same franchise agreement or other lawful authorization that the
Franchising Authority has granted to the new VSP or CSP. If the Company so
elects, the Franchising Authority shall adopt the Company's replacement
agreement at the next regularly scheduled Bryant city council meeting.

(c) The Franchising Authority shall at all times enforce the state and federal ban on
providing Cable Service without a franchise. The Franchising Authority's
enforcement efforts shall be continuous and diligent throughout the term of this
Agreement. Should the Franchising Authority not commence enforcement efforts
within sixty (60) days of becoming aware of a VSP or CSP providing Video
Service or Cable Service within the Franchise Area, the Company shall have the
right to petition the Franchising Authority for the relief provided in Section 1.5.2
above.

(d) This Section 1.5.2 shall not apply for VSPs or CSPs providing Video Service or
Cable Service in the Franchise Area under the authorization of the Arkansas Video
Service Act (A.C.A, § 23-19-201, et seq.).

1.5.3 Subsequent Change in Law. If there is a change in federal, state, or local law that
provides for a new or alternative form of authorization, subsequent to the Effective Date,
for a VSP or CSP utilizing the Streets to provide Video Services or Cable Services to
Subscribers in 'the Franchise Area, or that otherwise changes the nature or extent of the
obligations that the Franchising Authority may request from or impose on a VSP or CSP
providing Video Services or Cable Services to Subscribers in the Franchise Area, the
Franchising Authority agrees that, notwithstanding any other provision of law, upon the
written request and at the option of the Company, the Franchising Authority shall: (i)
permit the Company to provide Video Services or Cable Services to Subscribers in the
Franchise Area on substantially the same terms and conditions as are applicable to a VSP
or CSP under the changed law; (ii) modify this Agreement to comply with the changed
law; or (iii) modify this Agreement to ensure competitive equity between the Company
and other VSPs or CSPs, taking into account the conditions under which other VSPs or
CSPs are permitted to provide Video Services or Cable Services to Subscribers in the
Franchise Area. The Franchising Authority and the Company shall implement the
provisions of this Section 1.5.3 within sixty (60) days after the Company submits a
written request to the Franchising Authority. Should the Franchising Authority fail to
implement these provisions within the time specified, this Agreement shall, at the
Company's option and upon written notice to the Franchising Authority, be deemed
amended as initially requested by the Company under this Section 1.5.3. Notwithstanding
any provision of law that imposes a time or other limitation on the Company's ability to
take advantage of the changed law's provisions, the Company may exercise its rights
under this Section 1.5.3 at any time, but not sooner than thirty (30) days after the changed
law goes into effect.

3



1.5.4 Effect on This Agreement. Any agreement, authorization, right, or determination to
provide Cable Services or Video Services to Subscribers in the Franchise Area under this
Section 1.5 shall supersede this Agreement.

4

SECTION 2 THE CABLE SYSTEM

2.1 The System and Its Operations.

2.1.1 Service Area. As of the Effective Date, the Company operates a Cable System
within the Franchise Area.

2.1.2 System. As of the Effective Date, the Company maintains and operates a Cable
System capable of providing over 250 Channels of Video Programming, which Channels
may be delivered by analog, digital, or other transmission technologies, at the sole
discretion of the Company.

2.1.3 System Technical Standards. Throughout the term of this Agreement, the Cable
System shall be designed, maintained, and operated such that quality and reliability of
System Signal will be in compliance with all applicable consumer electronics equipment
compatibility standards, including but not limited to Section 624A of the Cable Act (47
U.S.C. § 544a) and 47 C.F.R. § 76.630, as may be amended from time to time.

2.1.4 Testing Procedures: Technical Performance. Throughout the term of this
Agreement, the Company shall operate and maintain the Cable System in accordance
with the testing procedures and the technical performance standards of the FCC.

2.2 Requirements with Respect to Work on the System.

2.2.1 General Requirements. The Company shall comply with ordinances, rules, and
regulations established by the Franchising Authority pursuant to the lawful exercise of its
police powers and generally applicable to all users of the Streets. To the extent that local
ordinances, rules, or regulations clearly conflict with the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall prevail, except where such
conflict arises from the Franchising Authority's lawful exercise of its police powers.

2.2.2 Protection of Underground Utilities. Both the Company and the Franchising
Authority shall comply with the Arkansas Underground Facilities Damage Prevention
Act (A.C.A. § 14-271-101, et seq.), relating to notification prior to excavation near
underground utilities, as may be amended from time to time.

2.3 Permits and General Obligations.

2.3.1 The Company shall be responsible for obtaining all permits, licenses, or other forms
of approval or authorization necessary to construct, operate, maintain, or repair the Cable
System, or any part thereof, prior to the commencement of any such activity. The
Franchising Authority shall not charge the Company, and the Company shall not be

4



required to pay, any fee or charge for the issuance of permits, licenses, or other approvals,
as such payments are included in the franchise fees described in Section 4 below. The
Franchising Authority shall make all reasonable efforts to issue permits, licenses, or other
approvals within ten (10) business days. The Company shall be solely responsible, either
through its employees or its authorized contractors, for constructing, installing, and
maintaining the Cable System in a safe, thorough, and reliable manner in accordance with
all applicable standards and using materials of good and durable quality. The Company
shall assure that any person installing, maintaining, or removing its facilities is fully
qualified and familiar with all applicable standards. No third party shall tamper with,
relocate, or otherwise interfere with the Company's facilities in the rights-of-way without
the Company's approval and supervision; provided, however, that the Company shall
make all reasonable efforts to coordinate with other users of the Streets to facilitate the
execution of projects and minimize disruption in the public rights-of-way. All
transmission and distribution structures, poles, other lines, and equipment installed by the
Company for use in the Cable System in accordance with this Agreement shall be located
so as to minimize interference with the proper use of the Streets and the rights and
reasonable convenience of property owners who own property adjoining the Streets.

2.3.2 Code Compliance. The Company shall comply with all applicable building, safety,
and construction codes. The parties agree that at present, Cable Systems are not subject to
the low voltage regulations of the National Electric Code, National Electrical Safety Code,
or other such codes or regulations. In the event that the applicable codes are revised such
that Cable Systems become subject to low voltage regulations without being
grandfathered or otherwise exempted, the Company will thereafter be required to comply
with those regulations.

2.4 Conditions on Street Occupancy.

2.4.1 New Grades or Lines. If the grades or lines of any Street within the Franchise Area
are lawfully changed at any time during the term of this Agreement, then the Company
shall, upon at least ninety (90) days' advance written notice from the Franchising
Authority and at its own cost and expense, protect or promptly alter or relocate the Cable
System, or any part thereof, so as to conform with the new grades or lines. If public funds
are available to any Person using the Street for the purpose of defraying the cost of any of
the foregoing work, the Franchising Authority shall make application for such funds on
behalf of the Company. The Company shall be entitled to reimbursement of its costs
should any other utility be so compensated as a result of a required protection, alteration,
or relocation of its facilities. Notwithstanding the above, the Company shall not be liable
for the cost of protecting, altering, or relocating facilities, aerial or underground, where
such work is required to accommodate a streetscape, sidewalk, or private development
project.

2.4.2 Relocation at Request of Third Party. The Company shall, upon reasonable prior
written request of any Person holding a permit issued by the Franchising Authority to
move any structure, temporarily move its wires to permit the moving of such structure;
provided (i) the Company may impose a reasonable charge on any Person for the

5



movement of its wires, and such charge may be required to be paid in advance of the
movement of its wires; and (ii) the Company agrees to arrange for such temporary
relocation to be accomplished as soon as reasonably practicable, not to exceed ninety (90)
days without the prior agreement of the Franchising Authority.

2.4.3 Restoration of Streets. If in connection with construction, operation, maintenance, or
repair of the Cable System, the Company disturbs, alters, or damages any Street, the
Company agrees that it shall at its own cost and expense restore the Street according to
the standards set forth in the Arkansas State Highway Commission's Utility
Accommodation Policy. If the Franchising Authority reasonably believes that the
Company has not restored the Street appropriately, then the Franchising Authority, after
providing ten (10) business days' advance written notice and a reasonable opportunity to
cure, may have the Street restored and bill the Company for the cost of restoration.

2.4.4 Trimming of Trees and Shrubbery. The Company shall have the authority to trim
trees or other natural growth overhanging any of its Cable System in the Franchise Area
so as to prevent contact with the Company's wires, cables, or other equipment, the cost of
which trimming shall not be borne by the Franchising Authority.

2.4.5 Aerial and Underground Construction. If at the time of Cable System construction
all of the transmission and distribution facilities of all of the respective public or
municipal utilities in the construction area are underground, the Company shall place its
Cable System's transmission and distribution facilities underground. At the time of Cable
System construction, in any place within the Franchise Area where the transmission or
distribution facilities of the respective public or municipal utilities are both aerial and
underground, the Company shall have the discretion to construct, operate, and maintain
all of its transmission and distribution facilities, or any part thereof, aerially or
underground; however, at such time as all existing aerial facilities of the respective public
or municipal utilities are placed underground, the Company shall likewise place its
facilities underground, subject to the provisions of Section 2.4.1. Company facilities
placed underground at the property owner's request in any area where any of the
transmission or distribution facilities of the respective public or municipal utilities are
aerial shall be installed with the additional expense paid by the property owner. Nothing
in this Section 2.4.5 shall be construed to require the Company to construct, operate, or
maintain underground any ground-mounted appurtenances such as customer taps, line
extenders, system passive devices, amplifiers, power supplies, pedestals, or other related
equipment.

2.4.6 New Developments. The Franchising Authority shall provide the Company with
written notice of the issuance of building or development' permits for planned
developments within the Franchise Area requiring undergrounding of cable facilities. The
Franchising Authority agrees to require the developer to give the Company access to
open trenches for deployment of cable facilities and at least thirty (30) days' written
notice of the date of availability of open trenches. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Company shall not be required to utilize any open trench.

6



2.4.7 Use of Existing Poles. Where possible, the Company shall attach its facilities to
existing utility poles and shall use all reasonable efforts to enter into a pole attachment
agreement with the owners of such existing utility poles. The Franchising Authority
acknowledges that the Company may pass through to Subscribers the costs of attaching
to existing utility poles in the Franchise Area, and does not object.

2.5 Change in Franchise Area. In the event that the borders of the Franchise Area change,
through annexation or otherwise, the Franchising Authority shall provide to the Company written
notice of such change, including an updated map and an electronic list of all addresses in the
Franchise Area. Franchise fees on gross revenues earned from Subscribers in annexed areas shall
not be payable to the Franchising Authority until sixty (60) days after the Company's receipt of
such updated map and electronic list of addresses, and shall not be remitted to the Franchising
Authority until the next regularly scheduled quarterly franchise fee payment as provided in
Section 4.1.2 below.

SECTION 3 CUSTOMER SERVICE

Customer Service. The Company shall comply in all respects with the requirements set forth in
Appendix B. Individual violations of those requirements do not constitute a breach of this
Agreement.

SECTION 4 COMPENSATION AND OTHER
PAYMENTS

4.1 Compensation to the Franchising Authority. As compensation for the Franchise, the
Company shall pay or cause to be paid to the Franchising Authority the amounts set forth in this
Section 4.1.

4.1.1 Franchise Fees—Amount. The Company shall pay to the Franchising Authority
franchise fees in an amount equal to five percent (5%) of Gross Revenues derived from
the operation of the Cable System to provide Cable Services in the Franchise Area.

4.1.2 Franchise Fees—Payment. Payments of franchise fees shall be made on a quarterly
basis and shall be remitted not later than thirty (30) days after the last day of March, June,
September, and December throughout the term of this Agreement.

4.1.3 Company to Submit Franchise Fee Report. The Company shall submit to the
Franchising Authority, not later than thirty (30) days after the last day of March, June,
September, and December throughout the term of this Agreement, a report setting forth
the basis for the computation of Gross Revenues on which the quarterly payment of
franchise fees is being made, which report shall enumerate, at a minimum, the following
revenue categories: limited and expanded basic video service, digital video service,
premium video service, pay-per-view and video-on-demand, equipment, installation and
activation, franchise fees, guide, late fees, ad sales, home shopping commissions, and bad
debt.

7



4.1.4 Franchise Fee Payments Subject to Audit: Remedy for Underpayment. No
acceptance of any franchise fee payment by the Franchising Authority shall be construed
as an accord and satisfaction that the amount paid is in fact the correct amount or a release
of any claim that the Franchising Authority may have for further or additional sums
payable under this Agreement. The Franchising Authority may conduct an audit no more
than once annually to ensure payments in accordance with this Agreement. The audit of
the Company's records shall take place at a location, in the State of Arkansas, determined
by the Company. The Franchising Authority is prohibited from removing any records,
files, spreadsheets, or any other documents from the site of' the audit. In the event that the
Franchising Authority takes notes of any documents, records, or files of the Company for
use in the preparation of an audit report, all notes shall be returned to the Company upon
completion of the audit. The audit period shall be limited to three (3) years preceding the
end of the quarter of the most recent payment. Once the Company has provided
information for an audit with respect to any period, regardless of whether the audit was
completed, that period shall not again be the subject of any audit.

If, as a result of an audit or any other review, the Franchising Authority determines that
the Company has underpaid franchise fees in any twelve (12) month period by ten
percent (10%) or more, then, in addition to making full payment of the relevant
obligation, the Company shall reimburse the Franchising Authority for all of the
reasonable costs associated with the audit or review, including all reasonable
out-of-pocket costs for attorneys, accountants, and other consultants. The Franchising
Authority shall provide the Company with a written notice of audit results and a copy of
the final report presented to the Franchising Authority. The Company shall remit any
undisputed amounts owed to the Franchising Authority as the result of the audit within
forty-five (45) days, or other mutually acceptable timeframe, after the date of an executed
settlement and release agreement.

4.2 Payments Not to Be Set Off Against Taxes or Vice Versa. The parties agree that the
compensation and other payments to be made pursuant to this Section 4 are not a tax and are not
in the nature of a tax. The Company and the Franchising Authority further agree that franchise
fee payments required under Section 4.1.1 shall be in lieu of any permit fees, business license
fees, and occupational license fees as are or may be required by the Franchising Authority. The
Franchising Authority and the Company further agree that no additional taxes, licenses, fees,
surcharges, or other assessments shall be assessed on the Company related to the provision of
services or the operation of the Cable System, nor shall the Franchising Authority levy any other
tax, license, fee, or assessment on the Company or its Subscribers that is not generally imposed
and applicable to a majority of all other businesses.

4.3 Interest on Late Payments. If any payment required by this Agreement is not actually
received by the Franchising Authority on or before the applicable date fixed in this Agreement,
the Company shall pay interest thereon, from the due date to the date paid,' at a rate of one
percent (1%) per month.

4.4 Service to Governmental and Institutional Facilities.

8



4.4.1 Complimentary Installation and Service. The Company shall, within thirty (30)
days of receipt of a written request by the Franchising Authority, provide complimentary
standard installation and complimentary Basic Service on one outlet for each public
primary or secondary school and public library located within the Franchise Area no
more than one hundred twenty-five (125) feet from the nearest point of connection to the
distribution plant. If a public primary or secondary school or public library within the
Franchise Area is located more than one hundred twenty-five (125) feet from the nearest
point of connection to the distribution plant, the Company shall, within thirty (30) days of
receipt of a written request from the Franchising Authority, provide a written estimate for
the cost of extending the distribution plant to the school or library, as well as any
necessary interior wiring costs.

4.42 Government Discounts. The Company may provide a government discount rate if the
Franchising Authority requests additional outlets at a public school or public library or
requests Cable Service to any other government facility within the Franchise Area.

SECTION 5 COMPLIANCE REPORTS

5.1 Compliance. The Franchising Authority hereby acknowledges that as of the Effective Date,
the Company is in material compliance with the terms and conditions of the cable franchise
preceding this Agreement and all material laws, rules, and ordinances of the Franchising
Authority.

5.2 Reports. Upon 'written request by the Franchising Authority and subject to Section 631 of the
Cable Act, the Company shall promptly submit to the Franchising Authority such information as
may be necessary to reasonably demonstrate the Company's compliance with any term or
condition of this Agreement.

5.3 File for Public Inspection. Throughout the term of this Agreement, the Company shall
maintain and make available to the public those documents required pursuant to the FCC's rules
and regulations.

5.4 Treatment of Proprietary Information. The Franchising Authority agrees to treat as
confidential, to the maximum extent allowed under the Arkansas Freedom of Information Act
(A.C.A. § 25-19-101, et seq.) or other applicable law, any requested documents submitted by the
Company to the Franchising Authority that are labeled as "Confidential" or "Trade Secret" prior
to submission. In the event that any documents submitted by the Company to the Franchising
Authority are subject to a request for inspection or production, including but not limited to a
request under the Arkansas Freedom of Information Act, the Franchising Authority shall notify
the Company of the request as soon as practicable and in any case prior to the release of such
information, by email or facsimile to the addresses provided in Section 9.6 of this Agreement, so
that the Company may take appropriate steps to protect its interests in the requested records,
including seeking an injunction against the release of the requested records. Upon receipt of said
notice, the Company may review the requested records in the Franchising Authority's possession
and designate as "Confidential" or "Trade Secret" any additional portions of the requested
records that contain confidential or proprietary information.

9



5.5 Emergency Alert System. Company shall install and maintain an Emergency Alert System in
the Franchise Area only as required under applicable federal and state laws. Additionally, the
Franchising Authority shall permit only those Persons appropriately trained and authorized in
accordance with applicable law to operate the Emergency Alert System equipment and shall take
reasonable precautions to prevent any use of the Company's Cable System in any manner that
results in inappropriate use thereof, or any loss or damage to the Cable System. Except to the
extent expressly prohibited by law, the Franchising Authority shall hold the Company and its
employees, officers, and assigns harmless from any claims arising out of use of the Emergency
Alert System, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.

SECTION 6 ENFORCEMENT

6.1 Notice of Violation. If the Franchising Authority believes that the Company has not
complied with the terms of this Agreement, the Franchising Authority shall first informally
discuss the matter with the Company. If discussions do not lead to a resolution of the problem,
the Franchising Authority shall notify the Company in writing of the nature of the alleged
noncompliance ("Violation Notice").

6.2 Company's Right to Cure or Respond. The Company shall have thirty (30) days from the
receipt of the Violation Notice, or any longer period specified by the Franchising Authority, to
respond; cure the alleged noncompliance; or, if the alleged noncompliance, by its nature, cannot
be cured within thirty (30) days, initiate reasonable steps to remedy the matter and provide the
Franchising Authority a projected resolution date in writing.

6.3 Hearing. If the Company fails to respond to the Violation Notice received from the
Franchising Authority, or the alleged noncompliance is not remedied within the cure period set
forth above, the Franchising Authority's governing body shall schedule a hearing if it intends to
continue its investigation into the matter. The Franchising Authority shall provide the Company
at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice of the hearing, specifying the time, place, and
purpose of the hearing. The Company shall have the right to present evidence and to question
witnesses. The Franchising Authority shall determine if the Company has committed a violation
and shall make written findings of fact relative to its determination. If a violation is found, the
Company may petition for reconsideration before any competent tribunal having jurisdiction
over such matters.

6.4 Enforcement. Subject to applicable federal and state law, if after the hearing provided for in
Section 6.3, the Franchising Authority determines that the Company is in default of the
provisions addressed in the Violation Notice, the Franchising Authority may

(a) seek specific performance;

(b) commence an action at law for monetary damages or seek other equitable relief; or

(c) in the case of a substantial default of a material provision of this Agreement, seek to
revoke the Franchise in accordance with subsection 6.5 below.

6.5 Revocation.

10



6.5.1 After the hearing and determination provided for in Section 6.3 and prior to the
revocation or termination of the Franchise, the Franchising Authority shall give written
notice to the Company of its intent to revoke the Franchise on the basis of an alleged
substantial default of a material provision of this Agreement. The notice shall set forth
the exact nature of the alleged default. The Company shall have thirty (30) days from
receipt of such notice to submit its written objection to the Franchising Authority or to
cure the alleged default. If the Franchising Authority is not satisfied with the Company's
response, the Franchising Authority may seek to revoke the Franchise at a public hearing.
The Company shall be given at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice of the public
hearing, specifying the time and place of the hearing and stating the Franchising
Authority's intent to revoke the Franchise.

6.5.2 At the public hearing, the Company shall be permitted to state its position on the matter,
present evidence, and question witnesses, after which the Franchising Authority's
governing board shall determine whether or not the Franchise shall be revoked. The
public hearing shall be on the record and a written transcript shall be made available to
the Company within ten (10) business days. The decision of the Franchising Authority's
governing board shall be made in writing and shall be delivered to the Company. The
Company may appeal such decision to an appropriate court, which shall have the power to
review the decision of the Franchising Authority's governing board. The Company may
continue to operate the Cable System until all legal appeals procedures have been
exhausted.

6.5.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 6, the Company does not waive any of its
rights under federal law or regulation.

6.6 Technical Violations. The parties hereby agree that it is not the Franchising Authority's
intention to subject the Company to penalties, fines, forfeiture, or revocation of the Agreement
for so-called "technical" breach(es) or violation(s) of the Agreement, where the violation was a
good faith error that resulted in no or minimal negative impact on the Subscribers within the
Franchise Area or where strict performance would result in practical difficulties and hardship to
the Company which outweigh the benefit to be derived by the Franchising Authority or
Subscribers.

SECTION 7 ASSIGNMENTS AND OTHER
TRANSFERS

The Franchise shall be fully transferable to any successor in interest to the Company. A notice of
transfer shall be filed by the Company to the Franchising Authority within forty-five (45) days of
such transfer. The transfer notification shall consist of an affidavit signed by an officer or general
partner of the transferee that contains the following:

(a) an affirmative declaration that the transferee shall comply with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and
ordinances regarding the placement and maintenance of facilities in any public
right-of-way that are generally applicable to users of the public right-of-way and

11



specifically including the Arkansas Underground Facilities Damage Prevention Act
(A.C.A. § 14-271-101, et seq.); (b) a description of the transferee's service area; and

(c) the location of the transferee's principal place of business and the name or names of
the principal executive officer or officers of the transferee.

No affidavit shall be required, however, for (i) a transfer in trust, by mortgage, hypothecation, or
by assignment of any *rights, title, or interest of the Company in the Franchise or in the Cable
System in order to secure indebtedness, or (ii) a transfer to an entity directly or indirectly owned
or controlled by HyperFiber of Arkansas, LLC.

SECTION 8 INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

8.1 Insurance.

8.1.1 Liability Insurance. Throughout the term of this Agreement, the Company shall, at
its sole expense, maintain comprehensive general liability insurance, issued by a
company licensed to do business in the State of Arkansas with a rating of not less than "A
minus," and provide the Franchising Authority certificates of insurance demonstrating
that the Company has obtained the insurance required in this Section 8.1.1. This liability
insurance policy or policies shall be in the minimum amount of One Million Dollars
($1,000,000.00) for bodily injury or death of any one person, One Million Dollars
($1,000,000.00) for bodily injury or death of any two or more persons resulting from one
occurrence, and One Million Dollars ($ 1,000,000.00) for property damage resulting
from any one accident. The policy or policies shall not be canceled except upon thirty
(30) days' prior written notice of cancellation to the City of Bryant.

8.1.2 Workers' Compensation. The Company shall ensure its compliance with the
Arkansas Workers' Compensation Law.

8.2 Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Franchising
Authority, its officers, employees, and agents acting in their official capacities from and against
any liability or claims resulting from property damage or bodily injury (including accidental
death) that arise out of the Company's construction, operation, maintenance, or removal of the
Cable System, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees and costs, provided that the
Franchising Authority shall give the Company written notice of its obligation to indemnify and
defend the Franchising Authority within ten (10) business days of receipt of a claim or action
pursuant to this Section 8.2. If the Franchising Authority determines that it is necessary for it to
employ separate counsel, the costs for such separate counsel shall be the responsibility of the
Franchising Authority. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not be obligated to
indemnify the Franchising Authority for any damages, liability, or claims resulting from the
willful misconduct or negligence of the Franchising Authority or for the Franchising Authority's
use of the Cable System.

8.3 Liability and Indemnity. In accordance with Section 635A of the Cable Act, the Franchising
Authority, its officials, employees, members, or agents shall have no liability to the Company
arising from the regulation of Cable Service or from a decision of approval or disapproval with

12



respect to a grant, renewal, transfer, or amendment of this Franchise. Any relief, to the extent
such relief is required by any other provision of federal, state, or local law, shall be limited to
injunctive relief and declaratory relief.

SECTION 9 MISCELLANEOUS

9.1 Controlling Authorities. This Agreement is made with the understanding that its provisions
are controlled by the Cable Act, other federal laws, state laws, and all applicable local laws,
ordinances, and regulations. To the extent such local laws, ordinances, or regulations clearly
conflict with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the terms and conditions of this
Agreement shall prevail, except where such conflict arises from the Franchising Authority's
lawful exercise of its police powers.

9.2 Appendices. The Appendices to this Agreement and all portions thereof are, except as
otherwise specified in this Agreement, incorporated by reference in and expressly made a part of
this Agreement.

9.3 Enforceability of Agreement: No Opposition. By execution of this Agreement, the Company
and the Franchising Authority acknowledge the validity of the terms and conditions of this
Agreement under applicable law in existence on the Effective Date and pledge that they will not
assert in any manner at any time or in any forum that this Agreement, the Franchise, or the
processes and procedures pursuant to which this Agreement was entered into and the Franchise
was granted are not consistent with the applicable law in existence on the Effective Date.

9.4 Governmental Powers. The Franchising Authority expressly reserves the right to exercise the
full scope of its powers, including both its police power and contracting authority, to promote the
public interest and to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the City of Bryant,
Arkansas.

9.5 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including all Appendices, embodies the entire
understanding and agreement of the Franchising Authority and the Company with respect to the
subject matter hereof and merges and supersedes all prior representations, agreements, and
understandings, whether oral or written, between the Franchising Authority and the Company
with respect to the subject matter hereof, including without limitation all prior drafts of this
Agreement and any Appendix to this Agreement, and any and all written or oral statements or
representations by any official, employee, agent, attorney, consultant, or independent contractor
of the Franchising Authority or the Company. All ordinances or parts of ordinances or other
agreements between the Company and the Franchising Authority that are in conflict with the
provisions of this Agreement are hereby declared invalid and superseded.

9.6 Notices. All notices shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given and served upon the
other party by first class mail, registered or certified, return receipt requested, postage prepaid;
by third-party commercial carrier; or via facsimile (with confirmation of transmission) and
addressed as follows:

THE FRANCHISING AUTHORITY:

13



City of Bryant
Attn: Mayor Allen E. Scott
ADDRESS 210 S. W. 3rd
CITY Bryant, Arkansas 72022

COMPANY:
HyperFiber of Arkansas, LLC
Attn: Dan Kennedy, President & CEO
4405 Faulkner Road

Little Rock, AR 72756
9.7 Additional Representations and Warranties. In addition to the representations, warranties, and
covenants of the Company to the Franchising Authority set forth elsewhere in this Agreement,
the Company represents and warrants to the Franchising Authority and covenants and agrees
(which representations, warranties, covenants and agreements shall not be affected or waived by
any inspection or examination made by or on behalf of the Franchising Authority) that, as of the
Effective Date:

9.7.1 Organization. Standing, and Authorization. The Company is a corporation validly
existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Arkansas and is duly
authorized to do business in the State of Arkansas and in the Franchise Area.

9.7.2 Compliance with Law. The Company, to the best of its knowledge, has obtained all
government licenses, permits, and authorizations necessary for the operation and
maintenance of the Cable System.

9.8 Maintenance of System in Good Working Order. Until the termination of this Agreement and
the satisfaction in full by the Company of its obligations under this Agreement, in consideration
of the Franchise, the Company agrees that it will maintain all of the material properties, assets,
and equipment of the Cable System, and all such items added in connection with any upgrade, in
good repair and proper working order and condition throughout the term of this Agreement.

9.9 Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto and their respective successors, permitted transferees, and assigns. All of the provisions
of this Agreement apply to the Company, its successors, and assigns.

9.10 No Waiver Cumulative Remedies. No failure on the part of the Franchising Authority or the
Company to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right or remedy hereunder including
without limitation the rights and remedies set forth in this Agreement, shall operate as a waiver
thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or remedy preclude any other
right or remedy, all subject to the conditions and limitations established in this Agreement. The
rights and remedies provided in this Agreement including without limitation the rights and
remedies set forth in Section 6 of this Agreement, are cumulative and not exclusive of any
remedies provided by law, and nothing contained in this Agreement shall impair any of the
rights or remedies of the Franchising Authority or Company under applicable law, subject in
each case to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

14



9.1 1 Severability. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or other portion of this
Agreement is, for any reason, declared invalid, in whole or in part, by any court, agency,
commission, legislative body, or other authority of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be
deemed a separate, distinct, and independent portion. Such declaration shall not affect the
validity of the remaining portions of this Agreement, which shall continue in full force and effect.

9.12 No Agency. The Company shall conduct the work to be performed pursuant to this
Agreement as an independent entity and not as an agent of the Franchising Authority.

9.13 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be deemed to be executed in the City of Bryant,
Arkansas, and shall be governed in all respects, including validity, interpretation, and effect, by
and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Arkansas, as applicable to contracts
entered into and to be performed entirely within that state.

9.14 Claims Under Agreement. The Franchising Authority and the Company, agree that, except
to the extent inconsistent with Section 635 of the Cable Act (47 U.S.C. § 555), any and all claims
asserted by or against the Franchising Authority arising under this Agreement or related thereto
shall be heard and determined either in a court of the United States located in Arkansas ("Federal
Court") or in a court of the State of Arkansas of appropriate jurisdiction ("Arkansas State
Court"). To effectuate this Agreement and intent, the Company agrees that if the Franchising
Authority initiates any action against the Company in Federal Court or in Arkansas State Court,
service of process may be made on the Company either in person or by registered mail addressed
to the Company at its offices as defined in Section 9.6, or to such other address as the Company
may provide to the Franchising Authority in writing.

9.15 Modification. The Company and Franchising Authority may at any time during the term of
this Agreement seek a modification, amendment, or waiver of any term or condition of this
Agreement. No provision of this Agreement nor any Appendix to this Agreement shall be
amended or otherwise modified, in whole or in part, except by an instrument, in writing, duly
executed by the Franchising Authority and the Company, which amendment shall be authorized
on behalf of the Franchising Authority through the adoption of an appropriate resolution, letter of
agreement, or order by the Franchising Authority, as required by applicable law.

9.16 Delays and Failures Beyond Control of Company. Notwithstanding any other provision of
this Agreement, the Company shall not be liable for delay in performance of, or failure to
perform, in whole or in part, its obligations pursuant to this Agreement due to strike, war or act
of war (whether an actual declaration of war is made or not), insurrection, riot, act of public
enemy, accident, fire, flood or other act of God, technical failure, sabotage, or other events,
where the Company has exercised all due care in the prevention thereof, to the extent that such
causes or other events are beyond the control of the Company and such causes or events are
without the fault or negligence of the Company. In the event that any such delay in performance
or failure to perform affects only part of the Company's capacity to perform, the Company shall
perform to the maximum extent it is able to do so and shall take all steps within its power to
correct such cause(s). The Company agrees that in correcting such cause(s), it shall take all
reasonable steps to do so in as expeditious a manner as possible. The Company shall promptly

15



notify the Franchising Authority in writing of the occurrence of an event covered by this Section
9.16.

9.17 Duty to Act Reasonably and in Good Faith. The Company and the Franchising Authority
shall fulfill their obligations and exercise their rights under this Agreement in a reasonable
manner and in good faith. Notwithstanding the omission of the words "reasonable," "good faith,"
or similar terms in the provisions of this Agreement, every provision of this Agreement is
subject to this section.

9.18 Contractual Rights Retained. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to impair the
contractual rights of the Franchising Authority or the Company under this Agreement.

9.19 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Nothing in this Agreement, or any prior agreement, is or was
intended to confer third-party beneficiary status on any member of the public to enforce the
terms of such agreements or Franchise.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the party of the first part, by its Mayor Allen E. Scott,
thereunto duly authorized by the Bryant City Council of said Franchising Authority, has caused
the name of said Franchising Authority to be hereunto signed and the corporate seal of said
Franchising Authority to be hereunto affixed, and the Company, the party of the second part, by
its officers thereunto duly authorized, has caused its name to be hereunto signed and its seal to be
hereunto affixed as of the date and year first above written.

City of Bryant, Arkansas

By: ________________________________
Name: Allen E. Scott
Title: Mayor

(Seal)

Attest: ______________________________

Date: _______________________________

HyperFiber of Arkansas, LLC

By: ________________________________
Name: Dan Kennedy

16



Title: President & CEO

Attest: ______________________________

Date: _______________________________

17



APPENDIX A
DEFINED TERMS

For purposes of the Agreement to which this Appendix A is appended, the following terms,
phrases, words, and their derivations shall have the meanings set forth herein, unless the context
clearly indicates that another meaning is intended.

"Agreement" means the Agreement to which this Appendix A is appended, together with
all Appendices attached thereto and all amendments or modifications thereto.

"Basic Service" means any service tier that includes the retransmission of local television
broadcast Signals and any equipment or installation used in connection with Basic
Service.

"Cable Act" means Title VI of the Communications Act of 1934 as amended, 47 U.S.C. §
521, et seq.

"Cable Service" means the one-way transmission to Subscribers of Video Programming
or other programming service and Subscriber interaction, if any, which is required for the
selection or use of such Video Programming or other programming service. "Cable
Service" does not include any Video Programming provided by a commercial mobile
service provider as defined in 47 U.S.C. §332(d).

"Cable Service Provider" or "CSP" means any person or group of persons (A) who
provides Cable Service over a Cable System and directly or through one or more affiliates
owns a significant interest in such Cable System, or (B) who otherwise controls or is
responsible for, through any arrangement, the management and operation of such a Cable
System.

"Cable System" means a facility, consisting of a set of closed transmission paths and
associated Signal generation, reception, and control equipment, that is designed to
provide Cable Service, which includes Video Programming and which is provided to
multiple Subscribers within a community, but "Cable System" does not include:

(A) a facility that serves only to retransmit the television Signals of one (1) or more
television broadcast stations;

(B) a facility that serves Subscribers without using any public right-of-way as defined
herein;

(C) a facility of a common carrier which is subject, in whole or in part, to the
provisions of 47 U.S.C. §§201—276, except that such facility shall be considered
a Cable System, other than for purposes of 47 U.S.C. § 541(c), to the extent such
facility is used in the transmission of Video Programming directly to Subscribers,
unless the extent of such use is solely to provide interactive on-demand services;

(D) an open video system that complies with 47 U.S.C. § 573; or



(E) any facilities of any electric utility used solely for operating its electric utility
system.

"Channel" means a "cable channel" or "channel" as defined in 47 U.S.C. § 522(4).

"Company" means HyperFiber of Arkansas, LLC., a corporation validly existing under
the laws of the State of Arkansas, or lawful successor$ transferee, designee, or assignee
thereof.

"FCC" means the Federal Communications Commission, its designee, or any successor
thereto.

"Franchise Area" means the incorporated areas of the City of Bryant, Arkansas,
including any areas annexed by the Franchising Authority during the term of the
Franchise.

"Franchising Authority" means the City of Bryant, Arkansas, or lawful successor,
transferee, designee, or assignee thereof.

"Gross Revenues" means all revenues received from operations of a Cable System to
provide Cable Service, including franchise fees for Cable Service Providers and Video
Service Providers and advertising and home shopping services, and shall be determined
in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP"). Gross
Revenues shall not include:

(A) amounts billed and collected as a line item on the Subscriber's bill to recover any
taxes, surcharges, or governmental fees that are imposed on or with respect to the
services provided or measured by the charges, receipts, or payments therefore;
provided, however, that for purposes of this definition of "Gross Revenue," such
tax, surcharge, or governmental fee shall not include any ad valorem taxes, net
income taxes, or generally applicable business or occupation taxes not measured
exclusively as a percentage of the charges, receipts, or payments for services to
the extent such charges are passed through as a separate line item on Subscriber's
bills;

(B) any revenue not actually received, even if billed, such as bad debt;

(C) any revenue received by any affiliate or any other person in exchange for
supplying goods or services used by the provider to provide Cable or Video
Programming;

(D) any amounts attributable to refunds, rebates, or discounts;

(E) any revenue from services provided over the network that are associated with or
classified as non-Cable or non-Video Services under federal law, including
without limitation revenues received from telecommunications services,
information services other than Cable or Video Services, Internet access services,
directory or Internet advertising revenue including without limitation yellow



pages, white pages, banner advertisements, and electronic publishing advertising.
Where the sale of any such non-Cable or non-Video Service is bundled with the
sale of one or more Cable or Video Services and sold for a single non-itemized
price, the term "Gross Revenues" shall include only those revenues that are
attributable to Cable or Video Services based on the provider's books and records,
such revenues to be allocated in a manner consistent with generally accepted
accounting principles;

(F) any revenue from late fees not initially booked as revenues, returned check fees or
interest;

(G) any revenue from sales or rental of property, except such property as the
Subscriber is required to buy or rent exclusively from the Cable or Video Service
Provider to receive Cable or Video Service;

(H) any revenue received from providing or maintaining inside wiring;

(I) any revenue from sales for resale with respect to which the purchaser is required
to pay a franchise fee, provided the purchaser certifies in writing that it will resell
the service and pay a franchise fee with respect thereto; or

(J) any amounts attributable to a reimbursement of costs including but not limited to
the reimbursements by programmers of marketing costs incurred for the
promotion or introduction of Video Programming.

"Person" means any natural person or any association, firm, partnership, joint venture,
corporation, or other legally recognized entity, whether for-profit or not-for-profit, but
shall not mean the Franchising Authority.

"Signal" means any transmission of radio frequency energy or of optical information.

"Streets" means the surface of, and the space above and below, any and all streets,
avenues, highways, boulevards, concourses, driveways, bridges, tunnels, parks, parkways,
waterways, docks, bulkheads, wharves, piers, public grounds, and public places or waters
within and belonging to the Franchising Authority and any other property within the
Franchise Area to the extent to which there exist public easements or public
rights-of-way.

"Subscriber" means any Person lawfully receiving Video Service from a Video Service
Provider or Cable Service from a Cable Service Provider.

"Video Programming" means programming provided by or generally considered
comparable to programming provided by a television broadcast station, as set forth in 47
U.S.C. § 522(20).

"Video Service" means the provision of Video Programming through wireline facilities
located at least in part in the public rights-of-way without regard to delivery technology,
including Internet protocol technology. This definition does not include any Video



Programming provided by a commercial mobile service provider as defined in 47 U.S.C.
§ 332(d) or Video Programming provided as part of, and via, a service that enables users
to access content, information, electronic mail, or other services offered over the public
Internet.

"Video Service Provider" or "VSP" means an entity providing Video Service as defined
herein, but does not include a Cable Service Provider.



APPENDIX B

CUSTOMER SERVICE STANDARDS

Code of Federal Regulations
Title 47, Volume 4, Parts 70 to 79
Revised as of October 1, 1998
From the U.S. Government Printing Office via GPO Access
47 C.F.R. § 76.309
Page 561-63

TITLE 47—TELECOMMUNICATION
CHAPTER I—FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION

PART 76—CABLE TELEVISION SERVICE Subpart
H—General Operating Requirements

§ 76.309 Customer service obligations.
(a) A cable franchise authority may enforce the customer service standards set forth in
paragraph (c) of this section against cable operators. The franchise authority must provide
affected cable operators ninety (90) days written notice of its intent to enforce the standards.

(b) Nothing in this rule should be construed to prevent or prohibit:
(1) A franchising authority and a cable operator from agreeing to customer service

requirements that exceed the standards set forth in paragraph (c) of this section;
(2) A franchising authority from enforcing, through the end of the franchise term, preexisting

customer service requirements that exceed the standards set forth in paragraph (c) of this
section and are contained in current franchise agreements;

(3) Any State or any franchising authority from enacting or enforcing any consumer
protection law, to the extent not specifically preempted herein; or

(4) The establishment or enforcement of any State or municipal law or regulation concerning
customer service that imposes customer service requirements that exceed, or address
matters not addressed by the standards set forth in paragraph (c) of this section.

(c) Effective July 1, 1993, a cable operator shall be subject to the following customer service
standards:

(1) Cable system office hours and telephone availability—

(i) The cable operator will maintain a local, toll-free or collect call telephone
access line which will be available to its subscribers 24 hours a day, seven days a
week.

(A) Trained company representatives will be available to respond to
customer telephone inquiries during normal business hours.



(B) After normal business hours, the access line may be answered by a
service or an automated response system, including an answering
machine. Inquiries received after normal business hours must be
responded to by a trained company representative on the next business
day.

(ii) Under normal operating conditions, telephone answer time by a customer
representative, including wait time, shall not exceed thirty (30) seconds when the
connection is made. If the call needs to be transferred, transfer time shall not
exceed thirty (30) seconds. These standards shall be met no less than ninety (90)
percent of the time under normal operating conditions, measured on a quarterly
basis.

(iii) The operator will not be required to acquire equipment or perform surveys to
measure compliance with the telephone answering standards above unless an
historical record of complaints indicates a clear failure to comply.

(iv) Under normal operating conditions, the customer will receive a busy signal less
than three (3) percent of the time.

(v) Customer service center and bill payment locations will be open at least during
normal business hours and will be conveniently located.

(2) Installations, outages and service calls. Under normal operating conditions, each of
the following four standards will be met no less than ninety five (95) percent of the
time measured on a quarterly basis:

(i) Standard installations will be performed within seven (7) business days after an
order has been placed. "Standard" installations are those that are located up to 125
feet from the existing distribution system.

(ii) Excluding conditions beyond the control of the operator, the cable operator will
begin working on "service interruptions" promptly and in no event later than 24
hours after the interruption becomes known. The cable operator must begin
actions to correct other service problems the next business day after notification
of the service problem.

(iii) The "appointment window" alternatives for installations, service calls, and other
installation activities will be either a specific time or, at maximum, a four hour
time block during normal business hours. (The operator may schedule service
calls and other installation activities outside of normal business hours for the
express convenience of the customer.)

(iv) An operator may not cancel an appointment with a customer after the close of
business on the business day prior to the scheduled appointment.

(v) If a cable operator representative is running late for an appointment with a
customer and will not be able to keep the appointment as scheduled, the customer
will be contacted. The appointment will be rescheduled, as necessary, at a time
which is convenient for the customer.



(3) Communications between cable operators and cable subscribers—

(i) Notifications to subscribers—

(A) The cable operator shall provide written information on each of the
following areas at the time of installation of service, at least annually to
all subscribers, and at any time upon request:

(1) Products and services offered;

(2) Prices and options for programming services and conditions of
subscription to programming and other services;

(3) Installation and service maintenance policies;

(4) Instructions on how to use the cable service;
(5) Channel positions programming carried on the system; and,
(6) Billing and complaint procedures, including the address and

telephone number of the local franchise authority's cable office.

(B) Customers will be notified of any changes in rates, programming
services or channel positions as soon as possible in writing. Notice must be
given to subscribers a minimum of thirty (30) days in advance of such
changes if the change is within the control of the cable operator. In
addition, the cable operator shall notify subscribers thirty (30) days in
advance of any significant changes in the other information required by
paragraph (c)(3)(i)(A) of this section. Notwithstanding any other provision
of Part 76, a cable operator shall not be required to provide prior notice of
any rate change that is the result of a regulatory fee, franchise fee, or any
other fee, tax, assessment, or charge of any kind imposed by any Federal
agency, State, or franchising authority on the transaction between the
operator and the subscriber.

(ii) Billing—
(A) Bills will be clear, concise and understandable. Bills must be fully

itemized, with itemizations including, but not limited to, basic and
premium service charges and equipment charges. Bills will also clearly
delineate all activity during the billing period, including optional charges,
rebates and credits.

(B) In case of a billing dispute, the cable operator must respond to a written
complaint from a subscriber within 30 days.

(iii) Refunds—Refund checks will be issued promptly, but no later than either—

(A) The customer's next billing cycle following resolution of the request or
thirty (30) days, whichever is earlier, or

(B) The return of the equipment supplied by the cable operator if service is
terminated.



(iv) Credits—Credits for service will be issued no later than the customer's next billing
cycle following the determination that a credit is warranted.

(4) Definitions—

(i) Normal business hours—The term "normal business hours" means those hours
during which most similar businesses in the community are open to serve
customers. In all cases, "normal business hours" must include some evening
hours at least one night per week and/or some weekend hours.
(ii) Normal operating conditions—The term ''normal operating conditions" means
those service conditions which are within the control of the cable operator. Those
conditions which are not within the control of the cable operator include, but are
not limited to, natural disasters, civil disturbances, power outages, telephone
network outages, and severe or unusual weather conditions. Those conditions
which are ordinarily within the control of the cable operator include, but are not
limited to, special promotions, pay-per-view events, rate increases, regular peak
or seasonal demand periods, and maintenance or upgrade of the cable system.
(iii) Service interruption—The term "service interruption" means the loss of
picture or sound on one or more cable channels.

[58 FR 21109, Apr. 19, 1993, as amended at 61 FR 18977, Apr. 30, 1996]



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-_____

AN ORDINANCE CALLING AND SETTING A DATE FOR A SPECIAL ELECTION ESTABLISHING
AN ADVERTISING AND PROMOTION COMMISSION FOR THE CITY OF BRYANT, ARKANSAS;

LEVYING GROSS RECEIPTS TAX PURSUANT TO THE ARKANSAS “ADVERTISING AND
PROMOTION COMMISSION ACT” IN ACA 26-75-601 THROUGH 26-75-619; AND, FOR OTHER

PURPOSES WITH EMERGENCY CLAUSE

WHEREAS, tourism is one of the largest industries in the United States; and,
WHEREAS, as part of major economic development, it is imperative that the City of Bryant, Arkansas

(hereinafter the “City”) has every opportunity to participate in available tourism dollars; and,
WHEREAS, the levy of a hotel and restaurant tax is essential to various tourism programs and projects

of the City and will result in substantial inflow of tourism dollars and result in economic benefits to the
residents of the City; and,

WHEREAS, a hotel and restaurant tax will enable the City to continue and expand its tourism
promotion programs and projects to further enhance the revenues and other benefits derived from tourism and to
thereby improve the quality of life of all residences of the City; and,

WHEREAS, the purpose of this Ordinance is to call a special election to establish an Advertising and
Promotion Commission and levy a gross receipts tax, pursuant to the authority of the Arkansas “Advertising
and Promotion Commission Act”.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
BRYANT, ARKANSAS:

SECTION 1: That there be and there is hereby called a special election to be held on November ____, 2023, to
determine by a vote of the qualified electors of the City of Bryant, Arkansas, the question of whether to
establish an Advertising and Promotion Commission for the City of Bryant, Arkansas and Levy Gross Receipts
Tax pursuant to the Arkansas “Advertising and Promotion Commission Act”.

SECTION 2: That the question shall be placed on the ballot for the special election in substantially the
following form:

Question One:

There is submitted to the qualified electors of the City of Bryant, Arkansas, the question of the
establishment of an Advertising and Promotion Commission for the City of Bryant, Arkansas and Levying
Gross Receipts Tax pursuant to the Arkansas “Advertising and Promotion Commission Act:.

Tax Levied. 

A. A tax in the sum of Three Percent (3%) shall be levied upon:  

(1) The gross receipts or gross proceeds from renting, leasing, or
otherwise furnishing a hotel, motel, house, cabin, bed and breakfast,
campground, short-term condominium, or other similar rental
accommodations for sleeping, meeting, or party room facilities for
profit in such city or town, but such accommodations shall not
include the rental or lease of such accommodations for periods of
thirty (30) days or more; and 

B. A tax in the sum of Two Percent (2%) shall be levied upon:  



(1) The portion of the gross receipts or gross proceeds received by
restaurants, cafes, cafeterias, delicatessens, drive-in restaurants,
carry-out restaurants, concession stands, convenience stores, grocery
store-restaurants, or similar businesses as shall be defined in the
levying ordinance from the sale of prepared food and beverages for
on-premises or off-premises consumption, but such tax shall not apply
to such gross receipts or gross proceeds of organizations qualified
under 26 U.S.C. 501(c)(3). 

C. The taxes levied herein shall take effect on the 91st day following the
appointment of the commissioners to The City of Bryant Advertising and Promotion
Commission and shall be remitted pursuant to this such rules and regulations as may
be promulgated by the Commission. 

Definitions. 

The following definitions shall apply with respect to the interpretation of this Ordinance: 

A. The words “hotel,” “motel,” “condominium,” “restaurant,” “cafes,” “cafeterias,”
“delicatessens," "drive-in restaurants," "carry-out restaurants," "convenience stores," 
"grocery store-restaurants,'' and "food delivery business" shall have their commonly
accepted English meanings, and shall apply to business establishments and activities
affected by this Ordinance regardless of the name or characterization applied by the
owner or operator of such establishment or business activity.  
B. "Taxpayer" shall mean the person, firm, or corporation owning and/or operating
any establishment or business activity upon which the tax levied by this Ordinance is
imposed. The term "Taxpayer" shall, for purposes of this Ordinance, include any  
individual who actually signs any report of tax collected pursuant to this Ordinance or
who signs any Arkansas or Federal withholding or gross receipts tax report for any
business establishment or activity upon which the tax levied by this Ordinance is
imposed. 

City of Bryant Advertising and Promotion Commission Established. 

The City of Bryant Advertising and Promotion Commission ("Commission") is hereby
established. The said Commission shall be composed of seven (7) members, as follows: 

A. Four (4) members shall be owners or managers of businesses in the tourism
industry, and the owner or manager may reside outside the City of Bryant but shall
reside within Saline County, at least three (3) of whom shall be owners or managers
of hotels, motels, or restaurants, and who shall serve for staggered terms of four
(4)  years; two (2) members of the Commission shall be members of the governing
body of the City of Bryant, who shall be selected by the City Council, and shall
serve at the will of the City Council; and one (1) member shall be from the public at
large, who shall reside in the City of Bryant, and shall serve for a term of four (4)
years. 

B. The initial members of the Commission shall be selected as follows: 
a. The four (4) tourism industry positions provided for in subdivision (1) of

this section shall be nominated by the Mayor and approved by a majority
vote of the City Council for staggered terms so that one (1) member will
serve for a term of one (1) year, one (1) member will serve for a term of two
(2) years; and one (1) member will serve for a term of three (3) years; and
one (1)  member will serve for a term of four (4) years. The industry



positions will be allocated to the 1, 2, 3, and 4-year terms based on a random
drawing by the appointees.  

b. The two (2) members of the Commission who are members of the governing
body of the City of Bryant shall be selected by a majority vote of the City
Council.  

c. The at-large position provided for in subdivision (1) of this section shall be
selected by the Mayor with the concurrence of a majority vote of the
City Council.  

C. Vacancies on the commission, whether resulting from the expiration of a regular
term or otherwise, in any of the four (4) tourism industry positions or the at-large
position shall be filled by appointment made by the remaining members of the
Commission with the approval by a majority vote of the City Council of the City of
Bryant. The City Council of the City of Bryant may remove any member of the
Commission by a 2/3rds vote upon 30 days' notice of intent to take such vote and
prior to such vote occurring.  

D. Each member of the commission shall file the oath required by law in the State
of Arkansas of public officials 

Organization of Commission. 

A. The Commission shall meet within two (2) weeks of its appointment and shall
be organized by electing a chairman, secretary, and treasurer. Thereafter
the Commission shall meet as often as may be necessary and shall also be subject
to special call by the chairman of the commission. The Commission shall meet at
least bi-annually.  

B. The Commission shall have the authority to employ the necessary personnel to
assist in the administration and operation of the City of Bryant Advertising and
Promotion Fund or may contract with appropriate firms or the City of Bryant to
perform functions of administration and operations.  

C. The Commission shall make quarterly reports to the Mayor and City Council 
beginning three (3) months after taking their office, reporting in full on the
operations of the Commission, including an accounting of receipts and
disbursements, and shall, upon request of City Council furnish such other and
further reports and data as may be required. The commissioners shall select a
recognized auditing firm to submit an annual audit of the operations of the
commission to the Mayor and City Council. The Commission may contract with
the auditing firm that the City of Bryant retains for its audit purposes. 

Collection of Tax. 

A. The tax shall be paid by the Taxpayer and shall be collected by the Commission or
by a designated agent of the Commission in the same manner and at the same time
as the tax levied by the Arkansas Gross Receipts Act of 1941, as amended.  

B. Taxpayers shall collect the applicable tax levied from the purchaser or user of the
food or accommodations. Taxpayers paying the tax shall report and remit the tax
collected upon forms provided by the Commission, and as directed by the 
Commission, but in no event later than the 20th day of the month following
collection of the previous month's taxes.  

C. The rules, regulations, forms of notice, assessment procedures, and the
enforcement and collection of the tax under the Arkansas Gross Receipts Act of
1941, as amended, and the Arkansas Tax Procedure Act, as amended, shall, so far
as practicable, be applicable with respect to the enforcement and collection of the
tax levied. However, the administration and enforcement, and all actions, shall be



by, and in the name of the Commission through the proper Commission officials or
agents. The Commission shall have the authority to sue and be sued in its name. 
The Commission shall for the purposes of collecting the tax levied, have all the
power and authority stated in Arkansas Code Annotated Section 26-75-603 and as
hereafter amended from time to time.  

D. The Commission is authorized to pursue all remedies for tax collection and
enforcement as identified in Arkansas Code Annotated Section 26-75-603 (c)-(f)
and specifically meets the requirements of subsection (f) as may be amended from
time to time by the Arkansas General Assembly.  

E. It shall be unlawful for any person, business, or entity subject to the A&P tax to
transact business within the City of Bryant prior to the issuance and receipt of an
A&P tax permit from the Commission.  

a. A separate A&P tax permit must be obtained from the Commission for each
location whereat the person, business, or entity conducts a business that is
subject to the A&P Tax.  

b. An A&P tax permit shall have no stated term.  
c. Any person, business, or entity subject to the A&P tax transacting business

in the city shall file with the Commission an application for an A&P tax
permit to conduct business, the form and contents of which application shall
be as prescribed by the Commission from time to time.  

d. The A&P tax permit shall not be assignable and shall be valid only for the
person, business, or entity in whose name it is issued and for the location
thereon designated. The A&P tax permit shall at all times be conspicuously
displayed at the location thereon designated. The A&P tax permit shall
expire at the time of cessation of the business of the person, business, or
entity designated thereon.  

F. The Commission shall promulgate rules and regulations to fulfill the purposes
of enforcement and collection of the tax levied herein as it deems necessary and
as allowed by Arkansas Code as may be amended from time to time by the
General assembly within 60 days of formation of the commission. The grant of
authority is to authorize the Commission to exercise all rights and privileges in the
collection and enforcement of the tax levied herein to the greatest extent permitted
by Arkansas law. 

Administration of Funds. 

A. There is hereby created the City of Bryant Advertising and Promotion Fund, to
which fund there shall be credited all collections of the tax levied. 

B. The Commission is the body that determines the use of the City of Bryant
advertising and Promotion Fund that is not designated to the city parks system. 

C. Sixty percent (60%) of all the funds credited to the City of Bryant Advertising and
Promotion Fund shall be used for the construction, reconstruction, extension,
equipment, improvement, maintenance, repair, and operation of, the city parks
system, or for the payment of the principal of, interest on, and fees and expenses in
connection with, bonds associated with such projects. 

D. Five percent (5%) of all funds credited to the City of Bryant Advertising and
Promotion Fund shall be used to cover administrative costs associated with
collecting and managing the funds collected.

E. Thirty-Five percent (35%) of all the funds credited to the City of Bryant Advertising
and Promotion Fund shall be used for advertising and promoting the City and its
environs as shall be determined by the City of Bryant Advertising and Promotion
Commission.



F. Pursuant to Arkansas Code Annotated Section 26-75-606(a)(2) as may be amended
from time to time, if the Commission determines that funding of the arts is necessary
for or supporting of its city's advertising and promotion endeavors, it can use its
funds derived from the hotel and restaurant tax.  

G. The Commission may not use proceeds from the Tax for: 
a. general capital improvements within the city;  
b. the costs associated with the general operation of the city;  
c. general subsidy of any civic groups or chamber of commerce.  

H. The Commission may contract with groups to provide the commission actual
services that are connected with tourism events or conventions; and the authorization
and limitations contained in this subsection shall be reasonably construed so as to
provide funds for promoting and encouraging tourism and conventions while not
allowing such special revenues to be utilized for expenditures that are normally paid
from general revenues of the City.  

I. The Funds collected pursuant to the taxes levied and allocated to the City of Bryant
Advertising and Promotions Fund may be used for any purposes identified and
authorized in Arkansas Code Annotated Section 26-75-606, as may be amended
from time to time by the General Assembly of the State of Arkansas. 

Vote on the question by placing an “X” in one of the squares following the question, either for
or against:

FOR the establishment of an Advertising and Promotion Commission for the City of Bryant,
Arkansas and Levying Gross Receipts Tax pursuant to the Arkansas “Advertising and
Promotion Commission Act………………………………………………………………………

AGAINST the establishment of an Advertising and Promotion Commission for the City of
Bryant, Arkansas and Levying Gross Receipts Tax pursuant to the Arkansas “Advertising and
Promotion Commission Act………………………………………………………………………

SECTION 3: That the election shall be held and conducted and the vote canvassed and the
results declared under the law and in the manner now provided for Arkansas municipal special
elections unless otherwise provided in Act 626 of 1989, and only qualified voters of the city
shall have the right to vote at the election. The City Clerk is hereby directed to give notice of
the special election by one advertisement in The Saline Courier, the publication to be not less
than ten (10) days prior to the date of the election.

SECTION 4: That a copy of this Ordinance shall be given to the Saline County Board of
Election Commissioners so that the necessary election officials and supplies may be provided.

SECTION 5: That the results of the special election shall be proclaimed by the Mayor, and his
proclamation shall be published one time in The Saline Courier. The proclamation shall advise
that the results as proclaimed shall be conclusive unless challenged in the Circuit Court of
Saline County within thirty (30) days after the date of publication of the proclamation.

SECTION 6: That the Mayor and the City Clerk, for and on behalf of the City, be, and they
hereby are authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary to call and hold the special
election as herein provided and, if the establishment of an Advertising and Promotion
Commission for the City of Bryant, Arkansas and Levying Gross Receipts Tax pursuant to the
Arkansas “Advertising and Promotion Commission Act” is approved by the electors, to perform
all acts of whatever nature necessary to carry out the authority conferred by this Ordinance.



SECTION 7: All ordinances and resolutions, and part thereof, in conflict in whole or in part, with any of the
provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 8: If any provisions of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is
held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions or applications of this Ordinance which can be
given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end, the provisions of this Ordinance are
hereby declared to be severable. 

SECTION 9: EMERGENCY CLAUSE. That it is hereby ascertained and declared that there is a critical need
to obtain this additional funding, all in order to promote and protect the health, safety and welfare of the
inhabitants of the City. It is, therefore, declared that an emergency exists and this Ordinance being necessary
for the immediate preservation of public peace, health and safety shall be in force and effective immediately
from and after its passage.

DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BRYANT,
ARKANSAS, on this the _____ day of ___________, 2023 

APPROVED: ATTEST:

__________________________ ______________________
Mayor Allen E. Scott Mark Smith, City Clerk

      









RE:

To: Fax:

Description Qty Unit Unit Price
610 TON 142.47$        

1 LS 7,500.00$     
1 LS 9,000.00$     

Notes:
* Payment shall be based upon actual tonnage laid at established unit price above.

* Concrete milling is excluded from this quote. 
* Manhole and water valve risers to be supplied by the city as needed prior to ACHM application.

CRANFORD CONSTRUCTION COMPANY

* Quote is based on field observation on 5.9.23 between city and contractor.

Morgan Garner
Morgan Garner

May 30, 2023

9,000.00$                

Hilldale Rd

City of Bryant

Asphalt Paving

Extended Price
86,906.70$             

7,500.00$                Curb Recovery and Butt Joints

on the above referenced project:

ACHM Surface Course 2"

Cranford Construction Company quotes the following unit prices for

103,406.70$           

Mobilization and MOT

TOTAL




	Invocation
	Pledge of Allegiance
	Call to Order
	Approval of Minutes
	Presentations and Announcements
	Director's Report
	Public Comments
	Old Business
	Public Works

	New Business
	Finance
	City Attorney
	Public Works

	Council Comments
	Mayor Comments
	Adjournments

